FOX ISLANDS ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

Effective July 26, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I – The Cooperative	
Article II – Definitions	. 1
Article III – Membership	. 1
Section 1. Requirements for Membership.	. 1
Section 2. Joint Membership.	. 2
Section 3. Transfer of Membership.	. 3
Section 4. Termination of Membership	. 3
Article IV – Meetings of Members	. 3
Section 1. Annual Meeting	. 3
Section 2. Special Meetings.	. 3
Section 3. Notice of Members' Meetings	. 4
Section 4. Quorum	. 4
Section 5. Voting	. 4
Section 6. Action by Mail Ballot	. 4
Section 7. Order of Business.	. 4
Section 8. Record Dates.	. 5
Section 9. Proxies	. 5
Article V – Board Members	. 5
Section 1. General Powers.	. 5
Section 2. Election and Tenure of Office.	. 6
Section 3. Qualifications.	. 6
Section 4. Nominations.	. 6
Section 5. Election of Directors.	. 7
Section 6. Resignation.	. 7
Section 7. Removal or Involuntary Resignation Procedure.	. 7
Section 8. Removal of a Director by Members.	. 8
Section 9. Vacancies.	. 8
Section 10. Director Compensation and Expenses	. 8
Section 11. Indemnification.	. 8
Article VI – Officers	. 9
Section 1. Elected Officers.	. 9
Section 2. Election and Term of Office	. 9
Section 3. Appointed Officers	. 9
Section 4. Resignation and Removal of Officers.	. 9
Section 5. President.	. 9
Section 6. Vice President.	. 9

Section 7. Secretary	9
Section 8. Treasurer	9
Section 9. Delegation of Duties	9
Article VII – Meetings of Board	. 10
Section 1. Regular Meetings	. 10
Section 2. Special Meeting.	. 10
Section 3. Notice of Regular and Special Board Meetings.	. 10
Section 4. Quorum	. 10
Section 5. Attendance by Electronic Means	. 10
Section 6. Attendance at Meetings	. 10
Section 7. Executive Session	. 11
Section 8. Minutes.	. 11
Section 9. Committees	. 11
Article VIII – Nonprofit Operation and Capital Credits	. 11
Section 1. Interest or Dividends on Capital Prohibited.	
Section 2. Allocation of Patronage Capital.	. 11
Section 3. Retirement of Capital Credits	. 12
Section 4. Retirement of Capital Credits for Deceased Patrons	. 12
Section 5. Assignment of Capital Credits.	
Article IX: Financial Transactions	. 12
Section 1. Contracts	
Section 2. Accounting System and Reports.	
Section 3. Financial Instruments.	
Section 4. Deposits	
Section 5. Change in Tariffs and Terms and Conditions.	
Section 6. Fiscal Year	
Article X: Disposition of Property	
Article XI: Dissolution	
Section 1. Dissolution.	
Section 2. Property Interest of Members	
Article XII: Miscellaneous	
Section 1. Non-liability for Debts of the Cooperative.	
Section 2. Binding Nature.	
Section 3. Membership in Other Organizations	
Section 4. Policies, Tariffs, Terms and Conditions, and Regulations	
Section 5. Area Coverage	
Section 6. Notice to the Cooperative	
Section 7. Notice to Patrons.	
Section 8. Corporate Seal.	
Section 9. Amendments	. 15

Article I – The Cooperative

Fox Islands Electric Cooperative, Inc. is a rural electrification cooperative organized under 35-A M.R.S.A. §3701, et seq. and consumer-owned transmission and distribution utility as defined in 35-A M.R.S.A. §3501. The Cooperative is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Maine according to Maine law and its Members through an elected governing body according to the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws.

The Cooperative shall not be operated for profit but for the mutual benefit of its Members and shall be operated to maintain its tax-exempt status under 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(12).

Article II – Definitions

As used in these Bylaws:

"Board of Directors," "Board of Trustees," and "Board" mean a body of natural persons duly qualified and elected or appointed as provided for in these Bylaws to govern the Cooperative's business affairs.

"Capital Credit" means the Patronage Capital allocated to the Patrons.

"Cooperative" means Fox Islands Electric Cooperative, Inc.

"Director" and "Trustee" mean a seated member of the Cooperative's Board of Directors.

"Member" means a person or entity receiving electric energy, transmission and distribution service, and/or other services furnished by the Cooperative who has not opted out of membership as provided for in these Bylaws. The term "Member" as used in these Bylaws includes spouses holding a joint membership. Members are entitled to vote for Directors as provided for in these Bylaws.

"Officer" means the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Chief Executive Officer, and other officers as may be designated by the Board pursuant to these Bylaws.

"Patron" means a person or entity that purchases or has purchased electric energy from the Cooperative.

"Patronage Capital" means all amounts received by the Cooperative from sales of electric energy and distribution services related to such sales in excess of the cost of providing such sales and services and such other margins as may be designated and allocated as patronage capital by the Board.

Article III – Membership

Section 1. Requirements for Membership. Any person or entity that purchases electric energy, transmission and distribution service, and/or other services furnished by the Cooperative is deemed to have consented to use such energy or service and be a Member of the Cooperative. Service and

billing records of the Cooperative showing service in the name of a person or entity shall presumptively establish membership of that person or entity.

No Member may hold more than one membership in the Cooperative, and no membership in the Cooperative shall be transferable, except as provided in these Bylaws.

Any person or entity may opt-out of or withdraw from membership by notifying the Cooperative in writing. A person or entity giving such notice shall not be considered a Member of the Cooperative or be entitled to vote in Cooperative elections but shall continue to be eligible for electric service under the Cooperative's tariffs, terms, and conditions.

Section 2. Joint Membership. Spouses may apply for a joint membership or convert an existing individual membership to a joint membership. All rights and liabilities of membership apply to joint memberships as follows:

- (a) The presence at a meeting of either spouse shall be regarded as the presence of one Member and jointly waives notice of the meeting;
- (b) The signature of either or both spouses on a nominating petition shall constitute only one Member signature unless one spouse holds a separate individual membership that is not part of the joint membership;
- (c) The vote of either spouse shall constitute one joint vote;
- (d) A waiver of notice signed by either spouse shall constitute a joint waiver;
- (e) Notice to either spouse shall constitute notice to both spouses;
- (f) Expulsion of either spouse shall terminate the joint membership;
- (g) Withdrawal of either spouse shall terminate the joint membership;
- (h) Either spouse, but not both, may be elected or appointed as an Officer or Director, provided that both meet the qualifications for such office;
- (i) Both spouses shall be jointly entitled to allocation of Patronage Capital and shall be jointly liable for debts to the Cooperative incurred in connection with the receipt of electric service, which liability shall survive termination of the joint membership;
- (j) Upon the death of either spouse who is a joint Member, the membership and any Capital Credits allocated to the joint membership shall be transferred to the surviving spouse; and
- (k) Joint membership shall terminate upon dissolution of marriage, and any joint Capital Credits will be divided equally between the parties unless a binding agreement or court order stipulating otherwise is provided to the Cooperative.

Section 3. Transfer of Membership. Membership in the Cooperative shall not be assignable or transferable except upon consent of the Board or pursuant to policies established by the Board.

Section 4. Termination of Membership.

- (a) Membership shall terminate upon the withdrawal, death, cessation of existence, or expulsion of a Member or upon the termination of all of the Member's service accounts. Upon termination of membership, the former Member's accrued Capital Credit allocations shall continue to be eligible for retirement or assignment consistent with these Bylaws.
- (b) Except for the retained right to Capital Credits, if any, termination of membership shall operate as a release of all rights, title, and interest of the former Member in the property and assets of the Cooperative; provided, however, that termination of membership shall not release the former Member or the former Member's estate from the debts or liabilities of such former Member to the Cooperative.
- (c) The Board may, by the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of all the Directors of the Board, expel any Member who fails to comply with any of the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or tariffs, terms, or conditions adopted by the Board, but only if such Member is given not less than fifteen days prior written notice of the proposed action, reasons therefor, and an opportunity to be heard, orally or in writing, at least five days prior to the effective date of such action. Any expelled Member may be reinstated by a vote of the Board or by a vote of the Members at any annual or special meeting.

Article IV – Meetings of Members

Section 1. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the Members shall be held on the fourth Monday of July of each year, beginning with the year 1975, at a location on Vinalhaven or North Haven. The Board shall determine the time, date, and location of the annual meeting. The Board, in its discretion, may change the time, date, and location of the annual meeting, including a change to a month other than July, upon a Board determination that circumstances have occurred that could not be foreseen at the time the meeting was set, such as, but not limited to, an extreme weather event, health emergency, or fire, and upon such notice of the new meeting time, date, and location as is provided permitted by law.

The purpose of the annual meeting shall be to elect Directors, present reports for the previous fiscal year, and transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting. It shall be the responsibility of the Board to make adequate plans and preparations for the annual meeting. Failure to hold the annual meeting shall not result in a forfeiture or dissolution of the Cooperative.

Section 2. Special Meetings. A special meeting of the Members may be called by the Board President, two-thirds of Directors, or by a petition signed by at least ten percent of the Members and delivered to the Cooperative. Such petition shall cite the specific purpose or purposes for which the special meeting is being called and shall be in conformity with all applicable laws, the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation, and these Bylaws. Any special meeting of the Members

shall be held at a location on Vinalhaven or North Haven at a time, date, and location determined by the Board.

Section 3. Notice of Members' Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the date, time, and location of the meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be given to each Member, either personally or by mail, not less than ten days nor more than twenty-five days before the date of the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States mail with postage prepaid addressed to the Member at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative.

The failure of any Member to receive notice of an annual or special meeting of the Members shall not invalidate any actions which may be taken by the Members at any such meeting.

Section 4. Quorum. Fifty Members, present in person, shall constitute a quorum. If less than a quorum is present at any meeting, a majority of those present in person may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.

Section 5. Voting. Each Member shall be entitled to only one vote upon each matter submitted to a vote by the Members. All questions shall be decided by the majority of Members voting thereon by mail, in person, or by proxy, except as otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws. A Member who has submitted a mail ballot on any matter shall not be entitled to vote in person.

Section 6. Action by Mail Ballot. Any action that may be taken at any annual or special meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting if the Cooperative mails a ballot to every Member entitled to vote on the matter. Such action has the same effect as action taken at a meeting of Members. The mail ballot shall state each proposed action and provide an opportunity to vote for or against each proposed action. All solicitations for votes by mail ballot shall:

- (a) state the percentage of approvals necessary to approve each matter other than the election of Directors;
- (b) state the time by which ballots eligible to be counted must be received by the Cooperative or an independent third party with whom the Cooperative has contracted for the storage and counting of ballots; and
- (c) be accompanied by written information sufficient to permit each Member casting such ballot to reach an informed decision on the matter.

Approval by mail ballot pursuant to this section shall be valid only when the number of votes cast by mail ballot equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a meeting authorizing the action, and the number of approvals equals or exceeds the number of votes that would be required to approve the matter at a meeting at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by mail ballot.

Section 7. Order of Business. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Board shall determine the agenda, program, and order of business for any meeting of the Members called by the Board. The Board President shall determine the agenda for meetings called by the President.

The matters to be considered at a special meeting called by petition of the Members shall be as presented in the petition. The President, or his or her designee, shall preside at each Member meeting and may exercise the duties and take actions reasonably necessary to conduct the meeting in an efficient manner.

The order of business at a meeting of the Members shall generally be as follows:

- (a) Read the notice of the meeting and proof of notice publication or mailing, or the waiver or waivers of notice of the meeting, as the case may be;
- (b) Report on the number of Members present in person in order to determine the existence of a quorum;
- (c) Read the unapproved minutes of the previous meeting of the Members and take necessary action thereon;
- (d) Present and consider reports of Officers, Trustees, and committees, if applicable;
- (e) Member comment;
- (f) Unfinished business;
- (g) New business; then
- (i) Adjournment.

Section 8. Record Dates. The record date for determining the Members who are entitled to notice of any annual or special meeting of the Members and to vote by written mail ballot at such meeting shall be thirty days prior to the date of the annual or special meeting of the Members at the close of business. The record date for determining the Members who are entitled to vote in person at any annual or special meeting of the Members shall be the date of such annual or special meeting at such time as the meeting is called to order.

Section 9. Proxies. At all meetings of Members, a Member may vote by a written, signed proxy. Each proxy shall designate the particular meeting at which it is to be voted and shall be filed with the Secretary before or at the time of the meeting. Only a Member may hold and vote a proxy. No Member shall vote as proxy for more than three Members at any meeting of the Members. No proxy shall be valid after sixty days from the date of its execution. The presence at such meeting of the Member who signed the proxy shall revoke the proxy, and such Member shall be entitled to vote at the meeting in the same manner and with the same effect as if the Member had not executed a proxy.

Article V - Board Members

Section 1. General Powers. The business affairs of the Cooperative shall be managed by a Board of nine Directors that shall exercise all of the powers of the Cooperative not conferred upon or reserved to the Members by law, the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws.

Section 2. Election and Tenure of Office.

- (a) The persons named as Directors in the Articles of Incorporation shall compose the Board until the first annual meeting or until their successors shall have been elected and shall have qualified.
- (b) The islands of Vinalhaven and North Haven shall each constitute a district for the purpose of electing Directors. Commencing with the 1975 Annual Meeting Election of Trustees and thereafter, there shall be six Directors from Vinalhaven and three Directors from North Haven, all elected by secret ballot and to serve until their successors are elected and qualified. Each Director shall be elected by the Members of the district he or she represents.
- (c) At the Annual Meeting in the year 1975, three Trustees representing Vinalhaven and two representing North Haven shall be elected for one year, and the other three representing Vinalhaven and the other one representing North Haven shall be elected for two years. Succeeding Trustees shall be elected for two-year terms.
- (d) At the Annual Meeting in the year 2022, two Directors representing Vinalhaven and one representing North Haven shall be elected for three years, and one Director representing Vinalhaven and one Director representing North Haven shall be elected for two years. At the Annual Meeting in the year 2023, two Directors representing Vinalhaven and one Director representing North Haven shall be elected for three years, and one Director representing Vinalhaven shall be elected for one year. Thereafter, succeeding Directors shall be elected for three-year terms.
- (e) If an election of Directors shall not be held on the day designated herein for the annual meeting, or at any adjournment thereof, a special meeting of the Members shall be held for the purpose of electing Directors within a reasonable time thereafter.

Section 3. Qualifications. To be eligible to become or remain a Director of the Cooperative, a person must:

- (a) be a Member of the Cooperative;
- (b) be an individual eighteen years of age or older;
- (c) purchase electric energy within their district; and
- (d) not be an employee of the Cooperative.

Upon establishment of the fact that a Director is holding the office in violation of any of the foregoing provisions, the Director is deemed to have resigned, and the Board shall remove such Director from office. Nothing contained in this section shall affect in any manner whatever the validity of any action taken at any meeting of the Board.

Section 4. Nominations. A nomination for Director may be made by written petition signed by at least fifteen Members and filed with the Cooperative not more than forty days nor less than

twenty days prior to the annual meeting. A nominee will be placed on the ballot if such nominee meets the requirements of Section 3 of this Article, the nominee's petition contains at least fifteen valid Member signatures, and the nominee's petition is received by the Cooperative at the Cooperative's main office by the close of business at least twenty days prior to the annual meeting. The Cooperative's staff shall determine whether a petition is valid within one business day of receipt and shall promptly notify the party who submitted the petition of such determination. Nominating petitions may be revised and resubmitted to address any deficiencies before the submission deadline.

Section 5. Election of Directors. When there is a contested Director election, the Secretary of the Cooperative, or their designee, shall mail or cause to be mailed to each eligible Member a ballot listing the candidates nominated for Director in the Member's district. Voting for Directors shall conclude when the President calls to order the annual meeting of the Members in any election year. The nominees from each district receiving the highest number of votes shall be deemed elected as Directors of the Board. A qualified candidate who is not contested shall be deemed elected. Ballots cast in an election for any Director seat will be made available to any candidate for that seat upon request of the candidate. Ballots will be retained under seal by the Cooperative for a period of three years following the election.

Section 6. Resignation. A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President. The resignation shall be effective upon delivery of the notice unless the notice states a later effective date. A Director is deemed to have resigned upon the determination by a vote of a majority of Directors seated on the Board subject to Section 7 of this Article that the Director:

- (a) failed to attend at least sixty percent of the annual, regular, and special meetings of the Board in any twelve consecutive months, which absences were not excused by the Board;
- (b) does not meet the qualifications for Director established in Section 3 of this Article;
- (c) has failed to comply with Board-approved policies concerning duties, standards of conduct, and conflict of interest;
- (d) engaged in fraudulent or dishonest conduct or gross abuse of authority or discretion with respect to the Cooperative; or
- (e) otherwise has failed to meet the fiduciary obligations of a Director of the Cooperative.

Section 7. Removal or Involuntary Resignation Procedure. A majority of seated Directors must authorize any charges against a Director elected by the Members that could result in removal or involuntary resignation. A Director shall be informed in writing of the charges and evidence supporting the charges at least twenty days prior to the meeting of the Board at which the charges are to be considered and shall have an opportunity at the meeting to be heard in person, in writing, or by counsel and to present evidence regarding the charges.

Any Director appointed by the Board, not elected by the Members, to fill a vacancy may be removed with or without cause by a vote of the majority of Directors seated on the Board.

Section 8. Removal of a Director by Members. The Members may call a special meeting of the Members for the purpose of removing a Director with or without cause by filing a petition with the Cooperative signed by at least ten percent of the Members. The question of the removal of a Director shall be considered and voted upon at the special meeting of the Members called for that purpose. The Director facing removal and the Members requesting such removal shall be given opportunities to speak at such special meeting. A Director may be removed only if the number of votes cast for removal exceeds those against removal.

Section 9. Vacancies. A vacancy occurring on the Board shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Directors for the unexpired portion of the term or until a successor qualified under Section 3 of this Article is elected.

Section 10. Director Compensation and Expenses. Directors shall not receive a salary for their services, except that Members of the Cooperative may by resolution authorize a fixed sum for each day or portion thereof spent on Cooperative business, such as attendance at meetings, conferences, training programs, or performing committee assignments when authorized by the Board; said fixed sum to be initially ten dollars a meeting. If authorized by the Board, Directors may also be reimbursed for expenses actually and necessarily incurred in carrying out such Cooperative business or granted a reasonable per diem allowance by the Board in lieu of detailed accounting for some of these expenses.

Section 11. Indemnification. To the extent permitted by Maine law, no Director or Officer of the Cooperative shall be personally liable for injury to persons or property arising out of a tort committed by an employee of the Cooperative for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Director or Officer unless the Director or Officer personally engaged in misconduct causing the injury. Furthermore, no employee, Director, or Officer shall be liable to the Cooperative or its Patrons for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as an employee, Director, or Officer if the employee, Director, or Officer performed his or her duties in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the Cooperative. The limitations of liability in this section shall not extend to (a) the receipt of a financial benefit to which the person is not entitled, (b) intentional infliction of harm on the Cooperative or its Patrons, or (c) intentional violation of criminal law.

The Cooperative shall indemnify any person made a party to a threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative proceeding, whether formal or informal, because such person was or is serving as an employee, Director, or Officer of the Cooperative, subject to a determination by the Board of Directors that the employee, Director, or Officer being indemnified acted in good faith and reasonably believed that his or her conduct was in the best interest of the Cooperative. The Cooperative's obligation to indemnify as set forth in this section shall not extend to (a) the receipt of a financial benefit to which the person is not entitled, (b) intentional infliction of harm on the Cooperative or its Patrons, or (c) intentional violation of criminal law.

Article VI - Officers

- **Section 1. Elected Officers.** The Cooperative shall have the elected offices of President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and such other Officers as may be determined by the Board from time to time. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the same person.
- **Section 2. Election and Term of Office.** The Officers shall be elected annually by and from the Board at the first regular meeting of the Board after each annual meeting of the Members. Each Officer shall hold office until the first meeting of the Board following the next succeeding annual meeting of the Members or until his or her successor shall have qualified. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term.
- **Section 3. Appointed Officers.** The Board shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer and such other Officers as it may deem appropriate. The Chief Executive Officer may be, but is not required to be, a Member of the Cooperative. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for the management of the affairs of the Cooperative and shall have such authority as the Board may from time to time vest in him or her.
- **Section 4. Resignation and Removal of Officers.** An Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President. The resignation shall be effective upon delivery of the notice unless the notice states a later effective date. The Board may remove any Officer by an affirmative vote of a majority of seated Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Cooperative will be served thereby.
- **Section 5. President.** The President shall preside at all meetings of the Cooperative, sign all documents that have been authorized by resolution of the Board, except in cases in which the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board or by these Bylaws to some other Officer or agent of the Cooperative or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed, and perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board from time to time.
- **Section 6. Vice President.** In the absence of the President, or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Vice President shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board from time to time.
- **Section 7. Secretary.** The Secretary shall authenticate the Cooperative's records, ensure that minutes are prepared and notice is given in accordance with these Bylaws, and perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board from time to time.
- **Section 8. Treasurer.** The Treasurer shall ensure that the financial affairs of the Cooperative are managed consistent with law, the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and Board policy and perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board from time to time.
- **Section 9. Delegation of Duties.** In the event of the inability or refusal to act, temporary absence, or death of any Officer elected or appointed by the Board, or for any other reason that the Board may deem sufficient, the Board may delegate the powers and duties of any such Officer to any other Officer or Director.

Article VII - Meetings of Board

- **Section 1. Regular Meetings.** A regular meeting of the Board shall be held without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of the Members. A regular meeting of the Board shall also be held monthly at such time and place within Vinalhaven, North Haven, or electronically as designated by the Board.
- **Section 2. Special Meeting.** Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President or by any three Directors. The President or Directors calling the meeting shall designate the time and place within Vinalhaven, North Haven, or electronically for the meeting.
- Section 3. Notice of Regular and Special Board Meetings. Written notice of the time, date, place, and purpose of any meeting of the Board shall be delivered to each Director either personally, electronically, or by mail, by or at the direction of the Secretary, at least seven days before the date set for the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States Mail addressed to the Director at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative, with postage thereon prepaid. Member notice of the time, date, place, and purpose of any meeting of the Board shall be posted at the Cooperative's main office at least seven days before the date set for the meeting. Copies of the agenda shall be made available to Members upon request at the Cooperative's main office. Appearance at the meeting shall be deemed a waiver of any defective notice.
- **Section 4. Quorum.** A majority of Directors seated on the Board shall constitute a quorum; provided that if less than such majority of the Board is present at said meeting, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time. The act of a majority of Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws.
- Section 5. Attendance by Electronic Means. For good cause and with approval of the Board, a Director who is not physically present in person may participate in a regular or special meeting of the Board using electronic communication by which all Directors participating in the Board Meeting may instantaneously converse with each other during the meeting. A Director participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting. No Director shall be permitted to attend Board meetings electronically more than three times within any consecutive twelve months unless and to the extent that the Board by affirmative vote authorizes additional electronic attendance.
- **Section 6. Attendance at Meetings.** All meetings of the Cooperative shall be open to Patrons, subject to reasonable restrictions as determined by the Board. If a meeting is held electronically, the meeting shall be deemed open if Patrons are able to address the Board and to see and hear Board proceedings electronically, either online or by physical attendance at the location of the meeting, to the same extent as are Directors participating in the meeting. At every regular meeting of the Board, Patrons of the Cooperative shall be given the opportunity to address the Board concerning the policies and business of the Cooperative. Unless otherwise determined by the Board President from time to time, such comment shall be permitted for up to one-half hour at each regular meeting, with three minutes allotted to each individual speaker.

Section 7. Executive Session. By a two-thirds affirmative vote of the Directors present, the Board may go into executive session during any regular or special meeting for consideration of documents or testimony given in confidence. The Board shall not make final policy decisions or adopt or approve any resolution, rule, regulation, or formal action, any contract, or any action calling for the payment of money at any session that is closed to the Patrons. Prior to the time the Board convenes in executive session, the Board shall announce the general topic of the executive session.

Section 8. Minutes. Written minutes shall be made of all meetings of the Board by or at the direction of the Secretary.

Section 9. Committees. The Board may create one or more committees and appoint one or more Directors to serve on such committees. Each committee shall have the responsibilities and authority to act to the extent delegated by the Board, subject to limitations in law, the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation, and these Bylaws.

Article VIII - Nonprofit Operation and Capital Credits

Section 1. Interest or Dividends on Capital Prohibited. The Cooperative shall be operated on a cooperative nonprofit basis for the mutual benefit of its Patrons. No interest or dividends shall be paid or payable by the Cooperative on capital furnished by its Patrons.

Section 2. Allocation of Patronage Capital. The Patrons of the Cooperative shall furnish capital for the Cooperative through their patronage. The Cooperative shall account on a patronage basis to all its Patrons for all amounts received and receivable from the furnishing of electric energy distribution in excess of operating and non-operating costs and expenses chargeable against the furnishing of electric energy distribution. The Cooperative shall allocate capital on a patronage basis as Capital Credits to its Patrons after the end of each fiscal year. Any underpayments of capital incurred by reasons of an operating deficit in any prior year or years shall be first deducted from the overpayments of capital in the current and future years before any capital is credited to the Patron.

The books and records of the Cooperative shall reflect the Capital Credits allocated to each Patron. The Cooperative shall notify each Patron of the amount of Capital Credits allocated to the Patron's account within a reasonable time after completing the audit of the prior fiscal year. No Patron shall be entitled to receive any payment of Capital Credits until such time and in such amount as the Board shall authorize.

Capital Credit allocations shall have the same status as though the Cooperative paid the amount allocated to the Patron in cash in pursuance of a legal obligation to do so, and the Patron then furnished the Cooperative a corresponding amount as capital.

All non-operating amounts received by the Cooperative from its operations in excess of costs and expenses shall, insofar as permitted by law, be used to offset any losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year and to the extent not needed for that purpose, allocated to its Patrons on a patronage basis and any amount so allocated shall be included as part of the capital credited to the accounts of Patrons, as herein provided.

Section 3. Retirement of Capital Credits. If at any time prior to dissolution or liquidation the Board of Directors determines that the financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby, the capital credited to Patrons' accounts may be retired in full or in part in compliance with the law and the Cooperative's loan covenants. Any such retirements of capital furnished prior to January 1, 1990, shall be made in order of priority according to the year in which the capital was furnished and credited, the capital first received by the Cooperative being first retired.

For capital furnished after January 1, 1990, the Board of Directors, in compliance with the law and the Cooperative's loan covenants, shall determine the method, basis, priority, and order of retirement; provided that no unreasonable difference between classes of Patrons shall be created or maintained with respect to capital retirements.

Section 4. Retirement of Capital Credits for Deceased Patrons. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors at its discretion shall have the power upon the death of any Patron, who was a natural person, to retire the capital credited to such Patron upon terms and conditions that the Board may prescribe; provided, however, that the financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby and subject to any limitations imposed by law and any loan covenants.

Section 5. Assignment of Capital Credits. Patrons may request in writing that all rights, title, and interest to the Capital Credits allocated to their patronage account be assigned to a third party, provided that the Patron agrees in writing to the terms of such assignment established by the Board from time to time.

Article IX: Financial Transactions

Section 1. Contracts. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or applicable law or regulation, the Board may authorize any Officer, employee, or agent to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Cooperative; such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2. Accounting System and Reports. The Board shall cause to be established and maintained a complete accounting system which, among other things, and subject to applicable laws and rules and regulations of any applicable regulatory bodies. The Board shall also, after the close of each fiscal year, cause to be made by a certified public accountant a full and complete audit of the accounts, books, and financial condition of the Cooperative as of the end of such fiscal year.

Section 3. Financial Instruments. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, and all notes, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Cooperative shall be signed by such Officer or Officers, agent or agents, employee or employees of the Cooperative and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board.

Section 4. Deposits. All funds except petty cash of the Cooperative shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Cooperative in such bank or banks as the Board may select or invested in a prudent manner and in the best interests of the Cooperative as the Board may determine.

Section 5. Change in Tariffs and Terms and Conditions. The Board may adopt, amend, restate, and otherwise promulgate tariffs and terms and conditions as it may deem advisable for the provision of electric service consistent with the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and applicable law and regulations.

Section 6. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Cooperative shall begin on the first day of January of each year and shall end on the thirty-first of December of the same year.

Article X: Disposition of Property

The Cooperative may not sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial portion of its property unless such sale, lease, or other disposition is authorized at a meeting of the Members thereof by the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of all the Members of the Cooperative, and unless the notice of such proposed sale, lease, or other disposition shall have been contained in the notice of the meeting; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything herein contained, the Board of the Cooperative, without authorization by the Members thereof, shall have full power and authority to authorize the execution and delivery of a mortgage or mortgages or a deed or deeds of trust upon or the pledging or encumbering of, any or all of the property, assets, rights, privileges, licenses, franchises and permits of the Cooperative, whether acquired or to be acquired, and wherever situated, as well as the revenues and income therefrom, all upon such terms and conditions as the Board shall determine, to secure any indebtedness of the Cooperative; provided further that the Board may upon the authorization or a majority of those Members of the Cooperative present at a meeting of the Members thereof, sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of all or a substantial portion of its property to another Cooperative or foreign corporation doing business in this State pursuant to the act under which this Cooperative is incorporated.

Article XI: Dissolution

Section 1. Dissolution. By a two-thirds majority vote, the Board may adopt a resolution recommending dissolution of the Cooperative and submit such resolution to the Members for a vote. The resolution shall state the reasons why the termination of the Cooperative is deemed advisable, the time by which it should be accomplished, and the names of three individuals who are Members of the Cooperative who shall act as trustees and have full power to do all things necessary to liquidate assets and terminate the affairs of the Cooperative. The question of dissolution shall be determined by a two-thirds affirmative majority vote of the Members present and voting in person or by mail ballot at any regular or special meeting of the Members.

Section 2. Property Interest of Members. Upon dissolution, after the debts and liabilities of the Cooperative have been paid and all capital furnished through patronage has been retired as provided in these Bylaws, the remaining property and assets of the Cooperative shall be distributed among the Members and former Members in the proportion which the aggregate patronage of each bears to the total patronage of all Members during the seven years preceding the date of the filing of the certificates of dissolution.

Article XII: Miscellaneous

- **Section 1. Non-liability for Debts of the Cooperative.** The Directors, Officers, Employees, Members, and Patrons of the Cooperative are not personally liable for the acts, debts, liabilities, or obligations of the Cooperative.
- **Section 2. Binding Nature.** The Cooperative and its Patrons are bound by the terms, conditions, and provisions of the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, tariffs, and terms and conditions of service, as those documents may be amended from time to time.
- **Section 3. Membership in Other Organizations.** The Cooperative shall not become a member of or purchase stock in any other organization without an affirmative vote of the Members at a duly held meeting, the notice of which shall specify that action is to be taken upon such proposed membership or stock purchase; provided, however, that the Board may authorize the Cooperative to purchase stock in or become a member of any corporation or organization organized on a nonprofit basis for the purpose of engaging in or furthering the cause of rural electrification and a corporation for the purpose of acquiring electric facilities and materials.
- Section 4. Policies, Tariffs, Terms and Conditions, and Regulations. The Board shall have the power to make and adopt such policies, tariffs, terms and conditions, and regulations that are not inconsistent with law, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the requirements of the Cooperative's lienholders as the Board may deem advisable for the management of the business and affairs of the Cooperative.
- **Section 5. Area Coverage.** The Cooperative shall provide reasonably continuous and adequate electric utility service to all Patrons within the Cooperative's service area pursuant to the Cooperative's tariffs and terms and conditions of service.
- **Section 6. Notice to the Cooperative.** Legal notice to the Cooperative shall be physically delivered or sent by certified mail with return receipt requested to the Cooperative's principal office at 66 Main Street, Vinalhaven, Maine, 04863, addressed to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer.

Section 7. Notice to Patrons. Any notice given under these Bylaws may be given as follows:

- (a) if given by mail, notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the recipient at the recipient's address as it appears in the Cooperative's records with postage thereon prepaid; or
- (b) if given electronically, notice shall be deemed to be delivered when it is electronically transmitted to the recipient at the recipient's email address as it appears in the Cooperative's records.

The failure of any recipient to receive notice of any meeting shall not invalidate any action that may be taken at such meeting. Any recipient may waive any notice given under these Bylaws by:

(a) written waiver signed by the recipient entitled to notice and delivered to the Cooperative; or

(b) attendance at a meeting, which shall waive objection to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting and objection to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the recipient objects to considering the matter when it is presented.

Section 8. Corporate Seal. The corporate seal of the Cooperative shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Cooperative and the words "Corporate Seal Maine."

Section 9. Amendments. These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed by the Members at any regular or special meeting, provided the notice of such meeting shall have contained a copy of the proposed alteration, amendment, or repeal and a proxy.